
 

 
 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  

DISTRICT OF MINNESOTA 

 

 

 

CITY OF DULUTH,   Civ. No. 14-912-SRN/LIB  

      Related Case Nos.: 5-89-163, 5-94-82 and 

09-cv-2668 

Plaintiff, 

 

v.  

 

FOND DU LAC BAND OF LAKE  

SUPERIOR CHIPPEWA, 

 

Defendant. 

________________________________________________________________________ 

 

FOND DU LAC BAND OF LAKE SUPERIOR CHIPPEWA’S REPLY 

MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT OF MOTION TO DISMISS THE COMPLAINT  

 

The Fond du Lac Band respectfully submits the following Reply in support of its 

motion to dismiss the Complaint.  

I. THE COURT SHOULD DISMISS THE CITY’S SECTION 10 CLAIM. 

 Because of the substantial overlap in arguments made by the City in seeking a 

preliminary injunction and in opposing the Band‟s motion to dismiss, the Band responded 

on a consolidated basis to the City‟s section 10 arguments in the Band‟s Memorandum in 

Opposition to the Motion for a Preliminary Injunction.  Doc. 33 (July 3, 2014).  The Band 

respectfully refers the Court to the discussion of the section 10 issues at pp. 17-33 of that 

filing. 
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II. THE COURT SHOULD DISMISS THE CITY’S SECTION 13 CLAIM. 

 

 A. The language of section 13 requires dismissal of the City’s claim. 

 Section 13 prohibits the Band (and the City) from lobbying for an amendment to 

IGRA “or any other federal law” that would abrogate the 1994 Agreements.  The dispute 

here is whether this restriction applies to lobbying for amendments to IGRA and other 

federal statutes, as the Band contends, or extends to the Band‟s request for a ruling from 

the NIGC on the legality of the 1994 Agreements. 

 The City criticizes the Band‟s use of the noscitur a sociis canon, but the City‟s 

reasoning actually reinforces the Band‟s argument.  The City states that in two of the 

cases cited by the Band, the canon “was not used to add or change statutory language; 

rather it was used to define the limits of the extant language.”
1
  But, the City argues, the 

Band is using the canon “to change the extant language of a contract” by construing 

“other federal law” to mean “other federal statutes.”  City MTD Br. at 24.   

 To the contrary, the Band is using the canon precisely as the City concedes it is 

intended: “to define the limits of the extant language.”
2
  Because section 13 juxtaposes a 

reference to the Indian Gaming Regulatory Act (a statute) with the reference to “other 

                                                           
1
  City MTD Br. at 23 (citing Util. Elec. Supply Inc. v. ABB Power T & D Co., 36 

F.3d 737 (8th Cir. 1994) and Maracich v. Spears, 133 S. Ct. 2191 (2013)). 

 
2
  In Utility Electric, for instance, the Eighth Circuit applied the canon to limit the 

reach of the term “industrial equipment” in a statute to “vehicle-type machines,” because 

of the neighboring list of vehicle references.  36 F.3d at 739.  In the City‟s nomenclature, 

this would be the same as crossing out the phrase “industrial equipment” and  

inserting the phrase “vehicle-type machines.”  City MTD Br. at 24.  This is not a 

misapplication of the nosictur canon; it is how the canon works. 
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federal law,” the “limits of the extant language” (“other federal law”) should be confined 

to other federal statutes, like IGRA.   

 Nor does this produce an “absurd interpretation.”  City MTD Br. at 23.   

“The use of paid lobbyists or other agents”—the clear focus of section 13—is commonly 

understood as a means to effect statutory change, not an agency adjudicatory ruling.  

Parties to an adjudication do not “lobby” for a particular ruling.  So too, the prohibition 

on seeking an “amendment” is most naturally applied to the pursuit of statutory change, 

not an agency adjudication. 

 The “absurd” result would arise from the City‟s interpretation, not the Band‟s.  

The City states that section 13 does not “prevent the Band from lobbying to amend or 

alter any other federal law unrelated to” IGRA or its implementing regulations.  City 

MTD Br. at 23.  The City puzzles about “what „statute‟ did the parties intend” to include 

within the lobbying prohibition, if section 13 is read (as the Band does) to apply to 

statutes beyond IGRA.  Id. at 24. 

 The answer is easy.  Imagine, for instance, that the Band used its lobbyists to seek 

an amendment to an annual Interior Department Appropriations Act, or an amendment to 

an unrelated bill—not to IGRA—where the amendment prohibited any agreement 

between a tribe and a city related to gaming.
3
  The Band‟s application of the noscitur 

                                                           
3
  Congress certainly prohibits tribal gaming where, when and how it wants to.  See, 

e.g., Ominibus Consolidated Appropriations Act 1997, Pub. L. No. 104-208, §330, 110 

Stat. 3009-227 (codified at 25 U.S.C. §1708(b)) (amending a Narragansett Tribe land 

claim settlement act to prohibit gaming on any settlement lands); Tax Relief and Health 

Care Act of 2006, Pub. L. No. 109-432, §361, 120 Stat. 2922 (prohibiting gaming on land 

conveyed into trust for a tribe). 
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canon would include such lobbying within section 13‟s proscriptions, while the City‟s 

would not. 

 The Band‟s interpretation of section 13 makes much more sense given the 

experience of the parties.  The 1986 Agreements had been invalidated as a result of a new 

statute, the 1988 IGRA.  In crafting the 1994 Agreements to respond to that, the parties 

agreed not to seek from Congress any new statutory language which would invalidate the 

new Agreements.  They did so by using contract language that tightly fits that purpose—

by proscribing the use of “lobbyists” to seek any “amendment” to IGRA or other federal 

law.  But that is all the parties did.  To read section 13 as prohibiting the parties from 

seeking an adjudicatory ruling from the NIGC, or as barring the parties from making a 

request for the regulatory agency to review the current legality of the agreements, is a 

construction supported neither by the plain language of the provision nor by the City‟s 

application of the noscitur canon.
4
 

 B. The NIGC’s role in the City-Band Agreements does not support the  

  City’s section 13 claim. 

 

 It was the City which in 1990 insisted that only the NIGC could construe IGRA to 

determine whether the 1986 City-Band contracts complied with the law.
5
  So, at the 

                                                           
4 
 There is no doubt that the 2011 NOV was a “change in law,” City MTD Br. at 24, 

which, as this Court found, warranted relief from the 1994 Consent Order.  But simply 

because an agency adjudication results in new decisional law that suffices for Rule 60(b) 

purposes does not mean that the ruling was an “amendment” to IGRA or to “other federal 

law” within the scope of section 13.  
 
5
  Fond du Lac Band v. City of Duluth, No. 5-89-0163 (D. Minn. Order of Dec. 26, 

1990) at 1 (“Defendants [the City] argue that only the chairman of the newly created 

National Indian Gaming Commission may review the agreements.”) 
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City‟s behest, this Court dismissed the Band‟s pending litigation and directed the Band to 

seek review by the NIGC.  Id. at 6.   

 When the parties entered the 1994 Agreements, the contract itself required the 

Agreements to be submitted to “the Chairman of the National Indian Gaming 

Commission” for approval.  D.Ex. 5, §14.   

 When the parties reached an impasse on negotiations for the renewal term of the 

1994 Agreement, the contract itself directed the dispute to the NIGC, and required the 

parties to ask the agency to mediate.  D.Ex. 6, §4.2.2.5.  In other words, the City by 

contract agreed to the NIGC as the forum for dispute resolution.  

 The agency declined to mediate in 2010, but this occurred on a parallel track with 

the City‟s lawsuit to enforce the “rent” provisions of the 1994 Agreement.  In Duluth I, 

this Court held that in order to seek relief from the 1994 Consent Order under Rule 60(b), 

the Band had to show that there had been “changes in either statutory or decisional law.”  

City of Duluth v. Fond du Lac Band, 708 F. Supp. 2d 890, 901 (D. Minn. 2010).  And the 

Court said that only a ruling by the NIGC about the City-Band agreements and “on the 

substantive issue of proprietary interest” would suffice.  Id. at 902. 

 In short, the Court said that “until the NIGC initiates an enforcement action,” id., 

the Band could not obtain the relief it sought.  It is little wonder that “[t]he Band then 

sought review of the 1994 Agreements by the NIGC.”  City of Duluth v. Fond du Lac 

Band, 830 F. Supp. 2d 712, 716 (D. Minn. 2011) (Duluth II).  The Band did so by an 

August 16, 2010 letter to the NIGC that took note of this Court‟s Duluth I holding, and 

said that the Band “now formally requests that the NIGC perform a full review of the 
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1994 Agreements for IGRA compliance in its capacity as regulator, rather than as neutral 

mediator.”
6
  As “regulator,” the NIGC was to apply its developed and existing body of 

law on “sole proprietary interest” to the Agreements.  

 According to the City, this was when the Band “initiated its lobbying for a change 

in law.”  City MTD Br. at 25; Compl. ¶39. 

 The Band no more “lobbied” for a change in law than the City “lobbied” against it.  

Both parties participated in an agency adjudication: submitting evidence, filing briefs, 

making legal arguments and advocating for a desired ruling.   

 Having insisted in 1990 that the NIGC was the appropriate forum for a ruling on 

the legality of the 1986 contracts, having submitted the 1994 Agreements to the NIGC for 

approval, and having designated the NIGC chair as the mediator for dispute resolution, 

the City now draws a strange line in claiming that the Band‟s request to the same agency 

for a ruling on the continued legality of the 1994 Agreements was impermissible 

“lobbying” in violation of section 13.   This is particularly so when the City was a full 

participant in the agency adjudication that followed.    

 There is no basis for the City‟s characterization of section 13 as a pact to “remain 

neutral before the NIGC.” City MTD Br. at 27.  (Or if so, the City violated it as well.)  

Instead, the parties have consistently treated the NIGC as discharging the role assigned to 

                                                           
6
  Nor did this Court find anything amiss in the Band doing so, concluding that 

“[a]lthough the Band communicated with the NIGC leading up to the NOV, the Court 

cannot conclude that the Band lacks the clean hands for equitable relief.”  Id. at 717 n.2.  

(The Band‟s August 16, 2010 letter is before the Court as Doc. 210-2 in Case No. 09-cv-

2668-SRN-LIB.) 
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it by Congress: as the expert agency tasked with administering, interpreting and enforcing 

IGRA.   

 Having obtained an earlier ruling on the 1994 Agreements that it liked, the City 

cannot use section 13 to stop the clock.  Nothing in section 13 should be read as divesting 

the NIGC of its continuing regulatory and enforcement jurisdiction, or as divesting the 

parties of their established practice of seeking guidance from the agency in an effort to 

comply with the law.  Indeed, a construction of the agreement that would bar a regulated 

entity from requesting agency review to ensure continued compliance with the law would 

be contrary to public policy.  See Band MTD Br. at 25-28.  

 C. Preclusion requires dismissal of the City’s claim. 

The City argues that its new breach of section 13 claim is not precluded by the 

Court‟s prior Rule 60(b) decision because the two claims do “not involve the same 

nucleus of operative facts” and instead “relate to different times, conduct and 

motivation.” City MTD Br. at 28-29.   

There is no merit to this argument.  The two cases do not merely arise out of the 

same “nucleus” of operative facts; they arise out of precisely the same facts.   

The City‟s 2009 lawsuit sought to compel the Band to continue to make “rent” 

payments under the 1994 Agreements.  The Band defended by arguing that those 

Agreements were illegal and then, in response to the Duluth I decision, the Band sought 

NIGC review of that question.  After the NIGC ruled that the Agreements were in fact 

illegal, the Band filed a Rule 60(b) motion seeking relief from the 1994 Consent Order. 

The City opposed the Band‟s Rule 60(b) motion by arguing, inter alia, that the Band had 
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violated section 13 just by asking for NIGC review.
7
  This is precisely the same breach of 

contract claim the City makes here in Count II of its Complaint.  

This Court rejected the City‟s previous section 13 claim when it granted the 

Band‟s Rule 60(b) motion. Duluth II, 830 F. Supp. 2d at 717 n.2.  The City appealed, 

reasserting its section 13 argument.
8
  While not expressly addressing the section 13 issue, 

the Court of Appeals affirmed this Court‟s grant of Rule 60(b) relief.  See City of Duluth 

v. Fond du Lac Band, 702 F.3d 1147, 1156 (8th Cir. 2013) (Duluth III).
9
  

The City here asks the Court to revisit the exact same conduct as in the prior suit.  

Here, as before, the City points to the Band‟s 2010 request to the NIGC to review the 

1994 Agreements and, as it did before, alleges that the Band violated section 13 by 

making that request.  Thus, the City‟s section 13 claim in the prior suit, and its claim in 

this suit, relate to the same conduct that necessarily occurred at the same time.  The 

City‟s claim then and the City‟s claim now are the very same claim. 

In the prior suit, the City asserted the Band‟s breach of section 13 as a shield 

against the Band‟s Rule 60(b) request for relief from the rent payments; here, the City 

                                                           
7
  See Band MTD Br. at 30 (citing Doc. 209 at 2, 32-33 & n.46, 38 in Case No. 09-

cv-2668-SRN-LIB.  

 
8
  See Band MTD Br. at 30-31 (citing City Appeal Resp. Br. at 37-40).   

 
9
  Although there is no dispute that this Court has not yet entered a final judgment in 

the case, the Court‟s Rule 60(b) ruling as it relates to prospective relief has been affirmed 

and is final as to the matters addressed in that ruling, including the City‟s section 13 

defense.  
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asserts the Band‟s breach of section 13 as a sword to compel the payment of the same 

rent in the form of “contract damages.” 

In short, the City‟s offensive section 13 claim in this case and its defensive section 

13 claim in the prior case relate to the same parties, involve the same conduct, arise under 

the same section of the agreement, allege the same breach of contract and, as practical 

matter, seek the same relief. 

Even though the City previously asserted the section 13 breach as a defense to the 

Band‟s request for Rule 60(b) relief, the judgment granting the Band that relief precludes 

the City from now reasserting the same breach of section 13 as an affirmative claim for 

damages.  In United States v. Stuart, 689 F.2d 759 (8th Cir. 1982), the Court barred re-

litigation of whether a summons was validly issued where the validity of the summons 

had been previously upheld.  “The principle of res judicata bars relitigation of the same 

claim even where a new theory is advanced as a basis for relief in the second suit.”  Id. at 

762.  What the Eighth Circuit said there fully applies here as well: “This is a classic case 

of a litigant impermissibly attempting to relitigate the same claim under a different theory 

of recovery, in violation of well established principles of res judicata, or more precisely, 

claim preclusion.”  Id.  

The City‟s current suit also falls squarely within the doctrine that precludes a 

litigant from asserting in a later action a claim that was raised in a prior proceeding if the 

new litigation would impair rights established in the first action.  See Band MTD Br. at 

29, 31 & n.20 (and cases cited therein).  The City says nothing about these decisions, and 

they control here.  Because the City seeks contract damages in lieu of the illegal “rent” 
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payments, the rights established by the Rule 60(b) judgment—that the Band is 

prospectively relieved of the obligation to pay “rent” to the City—would unquestionably 

be impaired by an award of such damages to the City.  The preclusion rules bar such a 

result.
10

   

III. CONCLUSION 

The City‟s Complaint should be dismissed. 

            Respectfully submitted, 

 s/ Henry M. Buffalo, Jr.  

Dated: July 7, 2014 Henry M. Buffalo, Jr. (MN #0236603) 
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Email: dsimon@sonosky.com 
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1720 Big Lake Road 
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T: 218-878-2607 F: 218-878-2692 

Email: seancopeland@fdlrez.com 

 

Counsel for Fond du Lac Band of 
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  As to collateral estoppel, the City contends that the breach of section 13 issue was 

not actually decided by the Court in the prior proceeding.  City MTD Br. at 30-31.  But 

the City misreads this Court‟s decision. While the Court noted that the City‟s allegations 

did not merit discussion at length, the Court did decide the issue, concluding that the 

availability of Rule 60(b) relief was unaffected by the City‟s allegations about the Band 

“„breaching the 1994 Agreements.‟” Duluth II, 830 F. Supp. 2d at 717 n.2.  
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